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Summary 

Earthwork remains of three adjacent rectangular structures, and associated field banks, were noted 

from aerial photography in an enclosure known as Top Cow Pasture immediately north of the hamlet 

of Selside in Upper Ribblesdale, on the eastern side of Ingleborough in the Yorkshire Dales. The site 

was hypothesised for the current project either as early medieval, as the earthwork footprints and 

enclosure banks showed strong similarities with those on sites previously excavated by the Group at 

Chapel-le-Dale and Crummack Dale, or as a component part of the monastic vaccary of Selseth. 

Excavations within all three structures were designed to determine the detailed morphology, purpose 

and dating of the site.   

Targeted excavation within the three structures showed them to be totally aceramic and artefact-poor, 

with only two metal objects logged. Four radiocarbon dates from secure archaeological contexts place 

the site within the late Anglo-Saxon or Anglo-Scandinavian eras or the immediate post-Conquest 

period (cal AD 984 ï 1224 at the broadest range of dates); one lies within the period cal AD 409 - 

581, the post-Roman/pre-Anglo-Saxon period; while another sits within the Romano-British period,   

namely cal AD 252 - 406.   
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1. Site Location and Historical Context 

Top Cow Pasture ï the name given to the HLF-funded project ï is situated in Upper 

Ribblesdale immediately north-west of the hamlet of Selside, on the west side of the River 

Ribble. The area lies within the civil parish of Horton in Ribblesdale. 

Top Cow Pasture is bounded to the east by the B6479 (Settle to Ribblehead) road, to the 

south by Alum Pot Lane and a dry stone wall/bank and ditch feature terminating at Long 

Churn Cave, to the north by Selside Shaw Laids, and to the west by a north-south-trending 

dry stone wall connecting Bent Hill Rigg and Long Churn. The actual site at the centre of the 

Project lies within Top Cow Pasture which is divided into two more of less equal parts by a 

modern dry stone wall running NNE-SSW (Fig. 1). The excavation site lies immediately west 

of this wall just south of its mid point, centred on NGR 377849 575938.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig. 1 Site location 
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The place-name Selside first appears in the documentary record as Selesat, noted in 

Domesday, and later in various forms: Seleseta or Selesete in the 1190s, and Selseth by 

1200. The modern spelling was first noted from 1541. The etymological derivation of the 

name is generally accepted as the shieling (ON sætr) by the willow trees (ON selja), which 

would suggest that the original summer settlement was located close to habitat suitable for 

willows rather than higher up on dry limestone pastures (Smith 1961, 220).  

The name Top Cow Pasture is a modern creation but of unknown origin. Very often in the 

Dales, and wider Pennines, the field descriptor óCow Pastureô indicated enclosures held in 

common by those in the township who enjoyed manorial grazing rights. Such appellations 

tend to have a genesis prior to the early modern period, and often in the sixteenth century. 

This field name, however, does not have such a long history. Until the Enclosure Award of 

1791 (YAS DD 104) the whole area west of the Ribble (between Selside and Lodge Shaw 

Cow Pasture), and east of the north-south wall mentioned above (between the ditch and 

bank feature also mentioned and Ingman Lodge Shaw Pasture) was called Selside Shaws 

and it was one large undivided stinted pasture grazed in common. By that award Selside 

Shaws came to be broken up into nine individual fields west of the B6479 and a further 

fourteen fields between the road and the Ribble. Since the award, four of the fields west of 

the road, and two to the east, have been further sub-divided (Fig. 2). Two small and 

irregularly-shaped fields just north of Selside, between road and river, were designated on 

the Award map as óancient enclosuresô, in other words they had possibly been enclosed 

before the time of people then living. At the north-east end of these old enclosures is a wood 

still called Cow Pasture Plantation ï it is possible that this name was applied to that part of 

Selside Shaws that was later truncated by road and railway, and that the western part 

became known as Top Cow Pasture by virtue of its being at a higher altitude.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig. 2 Selside Shaws Enclosure Award, 1791 

 

  

LP ς Lamb Pasture P ς (Shaw) Park           SS ς Selside Shaws   

AE ς Ancient Enclosures 
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The B6479, named as Selside Shaws Old Lane on current Ordnance Survey mapping, was 

realigned by the 1791 Enclosure Award; prior to that, it was called Greystones Road but 

more or less followed its present line. However, Thomas Jeffreysô Map of Yorkshire, 

published in 1771, shows a road running north from Selside and passing just to the east of 

Lodge (Hall) describing more of a gentle curve than the present straight line; this could be a 

cartographic error by one of his field surveyors. 

 

A linear map (undated but late 18th century, in a private collection) of the original line of the 

Richmond to Lancaster turnpike road, which was in use between 1751/2 and 1795, marks 

roads feeding into the turnpike: one such headed north from Settle in a straight line to the 

east of the Ribble throughout to join the turnpike road on Axletree End (now Cam End). No 

road is shown on the west side of the river, but nor is Horton in Ribblesdale, so this map 

cannot be fully relied on as an accurate depiction of reality at that time. 

 

A map of Yorkshire, first surveyed in 1817, shows the road up Ribblesdale running very 

much along its present course, passing well to the east of Borrins and Gill Garth, through 

Selside and then on a straight line towards Ribblehead (Teesdale 1828).    

Close examination of the LiDAR images (Figs. 3 and 4) reveals various archaeological 

features. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig. 3 LiDAR image centred on Top Cow Pasture. North is towards the top. The star symbol marks the 

excavation site. © Environment Agency, licensed 16 Feb 2015, ID 10729. 
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Fig. 4 LiDAR image of the same area as Figure 3, with modern walls, the B6479, the railway and 

Selside highlighted in greyscale. North is at the top.                                                                              

© Environment Agency, licensed 16 Feb 2015, ID 10729. 

 

On Figure 4 the highly complex settlement near Whit-a-Green is shown in light grey (centre 

left), and Selside lies bottom right with the B6479 and the Settle-Carlisle railway running 

north from it. On Figure 3 the curving bank is clearly seen lower left, as are various 

earthwork features in the lower part of Top Cow Pasture. A linear sunken trackway runs 

north-west from the excavated site (the star symbol); earthwork features are visible either 

side of the road just north of Selside; and the faint corrugated effect in Top Cow Pasture east 

and Top Cow Pasture south indicates plough furrows that are barely discernible on the 

ground. There is anecdotal evidence that the furrows to the east of the excavation site are 

where potatoes were (unsuccessfully) grown during the Second World War. Whether the 

southern set of furrows dates from a similar ódig for survivalô drive during the Napoleonic 

wars or from much earlier is not known.   

Prior to this project, seven discrete archaeological features were recorded on the Yorkshire 

Dales National Park Authority (YDNPA) Historic Environment Record (HER), as shown in 

Appendix 3. The excavation site was subsumed within the large area labelled MYD 3663 as 

a probable medieval settlement and field system consisting of óextensive but fragmentary 

[remains] surviving as earthworks and spread stone walls/banksô (YDNPA Monument Full 

Report). The record notes the existence of three ócollapsed dry-stone wall structuresô with 

óevidence of the double faced type of construction attributed in this area to homesteads of 

medieval dateô. No prior excavation had been carried out though the main site had been 

surveyed at a scale of 1:2500. Other features in the immediate vicinity and already recorded 

in the HER include earthwork remains of three field boundaries (MYD 39673, 38676 and 
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39677), two earthwork enclosures (39674 and 39675), as well as an early modern lime kiln 

and associated workings (36917).  

Selside appears in the documentary record, specifically in the Furness Abbey Coucher 

Book. In 1189-90 Richard de Morevill and his wife Avice granted to the abbey their pasture 

of Selside with adjoining (Low) Birkwith, thus ...omnem pasturam de Selessete et de 

Birkwyth [....] This grant was confirmed in 1190 by Avice in her own right, and by her son 

William before 1194 in return for an annual rent of half a mark (Brownbill 1916, 334-37). In c. 

1200 a legally-binding agreement was drawn up between Furness Abbey and Jervaulx               

Abbey regarding pasture rights at Selside but this led to a long-standing dispute between the 

two houses which was only settled in 1338 (Brownbill 1916, 343-49). The 1194 grant was 

reaffirmed c. 1220 by William de Mowbray who controlled vast territories in and beyond the 

western Dales as did his descendant Roger de Mowbray in c. 1260 (Brownbill 1916, 340-

43). What had been granted to Furness was not just Selside and its immediate surroundings 

but a whole tract of land west of the Ribble between South House, to the south of Selside, 

and Ribblehead which were added to its vast estate stretching from Chapel-le-Dale to 

Newby Head, down Upper Ribblesdale and across Ingleborough to Newby near Clapham.          

Selside was one of four vaccaries (cattle estates) into which the entire estate was divided for 

management purposes.  

A valuation of the abbeyôs entire Lonsdale estate, undertaken in 1292, noted Item habent 

unam vaccariam quae vocatur Selseth ï óAlso they have one vaccary that is called Selsethô 

(Atkinson 1887, 635). Further land grants were made to Furness in the Selside area: on 25 

March 1256 Sir John de Canzfeud released to the abbey his claim on two messuages (a 

tenement consisting of house and grounds) along with 500 acres of land (Brownbill 1916, 

339-40). 

After Dissolution, in the accounting year 1538-39, Selsyde was listed along with seventeen 

other properties in a valuation of Furness Abbeyôs possessions (Selby 1882, 97). 

Currently, all the land west of the B6479, between Alum Pot Lane and Stone House, is 

owned and managed by Natural England, with open access permitted, though grazing rights 

are rented out to a local farmer.  

 

2. Geology and Topography 

Most of the 4km2 surrounding the excavation site is underlain by Carboniferous Great Scar 

Limestone with younger limestone and sandstone strata of the Carboniferous Yoredale 

Group outcropping to the north-west of Top Cow Pasture at the foot of South House Moor 

and Park Fell (Fig. 5). Great Scar Limestone forms the prominent scars and associated 

screes parallel and west of the wall dividing Top Cow Pasture into two parts, and accounts 

for the expanses of exposed limestone pavement above the main scar and surrounding 

Leeds Bungalow (Leeds Hut) in the south-east corner of the Pasture. To the east of the 

railway much of the bedrock is masked by deposits of alluvium, along the Ribble plain and 

the lowest reaches of Selside Beck and Gillgarth Beck. A veneer of glacial till, of variable 

thickness, overlies much of the limestone accounting for the low rounded óridgeô running 

north-south through Top Cow Pasture east and in the western part of Top Cow Pasture 

west, towards the Whit-a-Green settlement site.   
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Fig. 5 Simplified geology. Based on British Geological Survey Sheet 50, Hawes.                                        

Solid and Drift Editions, 1:50,000 Series. 

 

Soil type reflects underlying geology so two types dominate Top Cow Pasture: thin mineral-

rich and neutral to slightly acidic rendzina soils have developed on the limestone; with more 

acidic brown earths on the areas of glacial till, though centuries of agricultural use have 

modified such soils. There are also small discrete pockets of fine, immediately post-glacial, 

wind-blown alkaline silt, known as loess, which is distinctly different in colour from locally- 

developed soils, having a hue that is yellow or buff rather than brown or grey-brown. One 

such pocket lies in a shallow basin, enclosed by limestone outcrops on three sides, to the 

west of the excavation site, centred on NGR 37777 47602: this basin is almost completely 

surrounded by a relict stone-cored boundary bank. 

The excavation site lies at the foot of the main north-south-trending scar where the 

topography levels out to gently sloping ground along the dividing wall referred to earlier. The 

site itself is at 312m OD; the western edge of Top Cow Pasture reaches 340-50m, while the 

eastern edge at the road is at 290m. The drumlinoid ridge within the eastern half of the 

Pasture rises c. 10m above the surrounding ground surface.   

 

 

        

 

 

 

Green ï Yoredale Series    Blue ï Great Scar Limestone 

Pink ï Glacial till deposits Yellow - Alluvium 
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3. Site Description  

The site investigated is seen as a nucleation of three structures, two of which are long and 

rectangular with double-faced rubble-filled dwarf walls, and a smaller more squared structure 

with less substantial walls. The two larger structures are aligned more or less east-west and 

are separated from one another by a maximum of 1.8m at the western end, though they are 

not parallel. The southern structure ï coded Structure 2 (Fig. 6) is slightly offset to the south 

from Structure 1 (Fig. 7) at its upper end. The north-west corner of the smaller structure 

(Structure 3, Fig. 8) is 15m WSW of the south-west corner of Structure 3 and it sits on a low 

knoll less than 2m higher than the two main structures. It is aligned on the same long axis as 

the two larger structures. The nucleation is centred on NGR 377849 475938. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig. 6 Structure 1, looking west 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig. 7 Structure 2, looking east 
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Fig. 8 Structure 3, looking south 

 

Associated with the nucleation are several stone-cored banks or relict wall lines. Bank A 

(Fig. 9) probably connected on the ground with Structure 3, though there is a gap of 27m 

between the structure and visible wall bank; it runs 23m NNW-SSE and then 75m NNE-SSW 

following the contour parallel to the field wall. It peters out near the north-west to south-east- 

trending field wall. Nearer the excavation site a shorter bank (B) veers off to the north-east 

and then to the north to create a broadly rectangular enclosure c. 10m by 20m in extent. 

Bank C leaves the west side of Structure 3 to run nearly 50m north-eastwards uphill before 

joining another relict wall line (D) that runs broadly parallel to the main scar for 50m from the 

sunken trackway to continue a further sinuous 95m below the scar before terminating at 

another similar wall line that begins at the foot of the scree/scar to run ESE downslope to the 

modern field wall and up the low drumlinoid feature: this length is c. 120m in a straight line. 

On top of the óridgeô it turns north-east to follow a sinuous course for 50m to peter out at the 

northern wall of Top Cow Pasture. A further stone bank (Bank E) joins Structure 1 to bank D; 

Bank E runs north-westwards for 40m. Relict wall line F is tied in to the north-east corner of 

Structure 1 and describes a very sinuous course broadly eastwards for a total length of c. 

200m before petering out in a low linear depression. Bank G is also sinuous and runs for 

140m south-westwards from the pavement surrounding the bungalow to peter out at the 

lower end of the dry valley.  
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Fig. 9 GPS survey plot of the excavation site and associated field banks.                                             

(Graphics Jeff Price) 

Ground truthing strongly suggests that all these banks were integral components of the 

excavated site, forming enclosures connected with animal husbandry and/or cropping. They 

are all now degraded and survive as low, sometimes almost imperceptible grassed banks 

and as a linear arrangement of dominantly single rather than opposing boulders (Fig. 10) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig. 10 Field bank F, looking west, running from the 1m-ranging poles to the modern field wall.                                     

(David Johnson) 
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A large, rather distorted, D-shaped enclosure (H on Figure 9), bounded by a low earthen 

bank up to 1.2m wide with some visible double-skin boulders, with a smaller squared 

enclosure set against it (Fig. 11), lies between the bungalow limestone pavement and the 

road. It is more probably associated with further earthwork features in the fields lying to the 

east of the road; there is no obvious relationship between these two enclosures and the 

excavated siteôs field banks, but a 7.5m-long wall bank runs north-eastwards off the larger 

enclosure and is terminated by the road, suggesting it continued further in that same 

direction. The large enclosure measures 29m on a north-south axis by c. 20m on an east-

west axis; the smaller is 10m north-south by 9.5m east-west. This site is centred on NGR 

37826 47582.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                Fig. 11 Enclosure H, looking NNE, with the smaller enclosure visible 

                    where the ranging poles are staked.  (David Johnson) 

A level platform, c. 14m by 11.5m, at the modern field gate next to Structure 1 gave no 

geophysical signals and is more likely to be a modern feature rather than anything coeval 

with the excavation siteôs occupation. However, it was not investigated intrusively. 

A small stream flows from the north-west side of the site, under the modern wall, to soon 

sink underground (in dry weather) at the head of a prominent zigzag dry valley which runs 

broadly south-eastwards across Top Cow Pasture east (Fig. 12). 

 

 

 

 

 

 


